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Above are members of Southwestern's Board of Directors, during their October meeting. 
Seated ( l tor): The Reverend Mr. Stewart W. Yandle; Mrs. Morgan L. Shaw; Mrs. ]. Maury 
M cintyre; Mr . Alden T. Shotwell; Mr. Belin V . Bodie; Mr . A . Van Prit chartt, chairman; Dr. 
Ross M. L ynn; Mr. Lewis R. Donelson III '38; The Reverend Mr . H . Richard Copeland; Mr. 
Edward B. L eMaster; Mr s. David K. Wilson; and Dr . David Alexander '53, president of the 
college and ex officio members of the Board of Dir ectors. 

Standing (l tor) : Mr. M ort on B. Howell , Jr .; Mr. Frank A. England, Jr . '41; Mr . William 
H . Mitchell ; and Mr. William H . Dale. 

Not pictured: Mrs. K enneth Harper; The Reverend Mr . James V . Johnson, Jr .; Mr . Earl 
W. Mallick ; Mr . Orrick Metcalfe; and Dr. W. ]. Millard '20. 

Southern Bell Saves the Day 

Watkins Speaks 
from New Yorl{ 

July marked the beginning of 
Southwestern's drive to meet a Ford 
Foundation challenge grant of $1,900,-
000. It will be necessary for the col­
lege to raise at least $3,800,000 in a 
three y.ear period in order to receive 
this amount. 

An Alumni Chairmen Conference 
w.as held on campus October 15-16 to 
discuss plans for the Challenge Cam­
paign. 
Dinner Meeting 

The Conference began with a dinner 
at Catherine Burrow Hall, presided 
over by Dr. Alfred 0. Canon '44, dean 
of alumni and development. 

Henry C. Watkins '35, 
National Chairman of the 
Alumni Challenge Cam­
paign, was unable to at­
tend, but managed to 
provide the highlight of 
the evening by address­
ing the assembly via am­
plified long distance H enry Watkins 

phone. Jefferson Davis '31, vice-presi­
dent of Southern Bell Telephone in 
Atlanta, was in attendance and smiled 
happily throughout the "telephoned 
speech.'' 

Following the dinner, Alumni Asso­
ciation President Jim Breytspraak '38, 
presided over a meeting in the Adult 

Education Center, which included brief 
talks by Dr. David Alexander '53, 
president of Southwestern; Dr. Peyton 
Rhodes, president emeritus of South­
western; Dr. Jameson Jones '36, dean 
of the College; Dr. Ray Allen '44, dean 
of admissions; and Mr. Al Jordan, di­
rector of the Challenge Campaign. 

Challenge and a Plan 
Mr. A. Van Pritchartt, chairman of 

Southwestern's board of directors and 
executive committee, addressed the 
group, discussing "A Challenge and a 
Plan," after which the new South­
western color movie, "To Meet To­
morrow," was shown. 

The following morning, the group 
met in plenary session for an explana­
tion of region and district organiza­
tion, and then divided into regional 
group discussions. The conference con­
cluded on Homecoming Day; therefore 
those attending continued with the 
planned activities. 

Regional Chairmen 
Working under National Chairman 

Henry Watkins are: John Farley '37 
of Westfield, N. J.; Schuyler Lowe '31 
of Washington, D. C.; Jefferson Davis 
'31 of Atlanta, Georgia; Dr. U. S. Gor­
don '15 of Gainesville, Fla.; Frank A. 
England, Jr. '41 of Greenville, Miss.; Dr. 
Andrew H . Miller '46 of Nashville, 
Tenn.; Sidney F. Davis '27 of Toledo, 
Ohio; Dr. R. P. Richardson '17 of Pine 
Bluff, Ark. ; John B. Reid, Jr. '44 of 
Dallas, Texas; and James E. Ratcliff, 
Jr. '52 of San Francisco, Calif. 

�l�l�o�~�e�c�o�n�r�r�U�n�g�-�-�1�9�6�5� 
Southwestern's Homecoming Day 

for 1965 was on October 16, and al­
though Southwestern did not fare so 
well against Millsaps on the football 
field, the day still proved thrilling for 
many students, parents, and alumni. 

The new Southwestern movie, "To 
Meet Tomorrow" drew a large crowd 
in Hardie Auditorium at 11:00 a.m., 
and was followed by the homecoming 
luncheon at 12:15 in William Neely 
Mallory Memorial Gymnasium. Guests 
of honor at the luncheon were the 
1965 homecoming royalty and all 
former homecoming royalty. This 
year's homecoming queen was Miss 
Carol Pickens, formerly 
of Memphis. Miss Pick­
ens is a member of Chi 
Omega sorority. 

Following the 21-12 
defeat, fraternities held • 
open house for all alumni -·---and guests. Later that Carol Pickens 

night the "Trendells" played for the 
homecoming dance held at Rainbow 
Terrace. 

UNIVERSITY LECTURERS 
Southwestern annually joins with a 

number of distinguished institutions 
and their local alumni groups to offer 
all responsible citizens an intellectual 
experience and to strengthen the vital 
ties which bind the alumnus to his 
alma mater in mind and spirit. 

In charge of this University Lec­
turers Series is Dr. Alfred 0. Canon, 
Southwestern's dean of alumni and 
development. 

The Series began on November 2, 
when Dr. Robert I. Crane, professor of 
history at Duke University, spoke on 
"Problems of Independent Asia." Smith 
College was represented on November 
11, 1965, when Dr. A. B. Overstreet, 
professor of government, spoke on 
"The American Foreign Policy Re­
sponse to Persistent Crises." 

Other speakers coming up for the 
Series include: 
JANUARY 12, 1966-George T. Rey­
nolds, professor of physics at Prince­
ton University. "Science and Human 
Affairs." 
FEBRUARY 8, 1966--Wilbur C. Nel­
son, chairman of Department Aero­
space Engineering, at the University 
of Michigan. "An Inside View of the 
Space Program." 

All Southwestern alumni, parents, 
and friends of the college are cordially 
invited to attend these lectures. 



"SOUTHWESTERN NEWS" 
Published Five T imes Annuall y by 
S o u THWESTERN A T M EM PHIS 

2000 N. Parkway M emphis, T ennessee 38112 
M ailed Second Class Postage Paid at M emphis, Tennessee 

Dr. Al fr ed 0 . Canon '44 
D ean of Alumni and Development 

Goodbar Morgan '31 
Director of Alumni Affairs 

K en Berryhill 
Editor 

Miss Marthanne L i.vi ngston 
Assistant 

Mrs. Arthur Birge (Jet Hollenberg '42) 
Class Notes Editor 

"Splendid Teacher' 
EX-PROFESSOR DIES 

A former Southwestern professor, 
Dr. Robert P. Strickler, died Septem­
ber 22, 1965, at Wychmere Nursing 
Center where he had been a patient 
more than a year. Dr. Strickler, who 
came to Southwestern in 1924, served 
as chairman of the Greek department 
and the curriculum committee, and 
was known as a " splendid teacher" to 
his devoted students. 

Dr. Strickler was graduated from 
the University of West Virginia and 
studied in Oxford, England three years 
on a Rhodes scholarship. He completed 
his Ph.D. degree in Greek and philo­
logy at Johns Hopkins University in 
Baltimore. 

Financial Publication 
Book Authored by Bevis 

A new volume in 
Studies of the Modern 
Corporation for the Co­
lumbia University Grad­
uate School of Business, 
and published by The 
Macmillan Company, has 
been written by South­
western alumnus Herman 
W. Bevis '30, a Senior Partner of 
Price Waterhouse & Company in New 
York. 

This original and valuable book, 
Corporate Financial Reporting in a 
Competitive Economy, provides the 
first thorough survey of corporate fi­
nancial reporting in publicly owned 
corporations. 

FALL ALUMNI MEETINGS 
Peachtree Presbyterian Church, 

3434 Roswell Rd. N.W., was the site 
for a special Southwestern meeting for 
the Atlanta area held on Sunday, 
October 3, 1965. Alumnus J. L. Jerden 
'59 was in charge of the arrangements 
including a dinner at 6:30 p.m. 

Another meeting was held in New 
York at the Yale Club on October 4, 
1965. Mr. Walter James Wade '44, 
vice president of J. Walter Thompson 
Co., handled the arrangements for this 
meeting. 

Then on October 5, 1965 a meeting 
was held in Washington, D. C. at the 
Key Bridge Marriott Motel. A recep­
tion was held at 7:00 p.m. and fol­
lowed by a dinner at 7:30. Alumni 
John and Mary Pond, both of the class 
of 1940 were in charge of the arrange· 
ments. 

New Movie Shown 
At all three of these meetings the 

new Southwestern movie, "To Meet 
Tomorrow" was shown. Following the 
movie, President David Alexander '53 
addressed the group of alumni, par­
ents of current students, prospective 
students, and counselors, and out­
lined some of the interesting features 
of the 1965-75 Development Program. 

Members of the Southwestern staff 
attending all three meetings were Pres­
ident David Alexander, Dr. Alfred 
0 . Canon '44, dean of alumni and de­
velopment, and Dr. Jameson M. 
Jones '36, dean of the college. Others 
able to attend some of the meetings 
were: Mr. Sam Drash '59, Dr. Ray 
M. Allen '44, dean of admissions, and 
Dr. Granville Davis, dean of continu­
ing education. 

Wesley 
Halliburton 

"""----"'--"------' 
Mr. Wesley Halliburton, retired real 

estate and farm land dealer, traveler, 
and friend of Southwestern, passed 
away in Memphis on November 1, 
1965. He was 95. 

He was among those instrumental 
in bringing Southwestern to Memphis 
from Clarksville, Tennessee in 1925, 
and was ardent in his support of the 
College over the years. 
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Southwestern 
Basketball 

SCHEDULE 1965-66 
DATE OPPONENT PLACE 
D ec. 1 Tulane New Orleans, L a. 
D ec. 3-4 Citrus ourn. Lak eland, Fla. 
Dec. 8 Lamb Jackson, T enn. 
Dec. 10-11 Dixie To rnament Home 
D ec. 14 Mi llsaps.'1 Home 
D ec. 16 L . �~�'�P� 'k ' Univ. Littl e Rock, Ark. 
Jan. 4 UniQ TTh :YersL Jackson, Tenn. 

�I �~ �·� Jan. 6 Belliav. _ . ! Home 
Jan. 8 Sewa · , ... �~ �~�w�a �n �e �e �,� T enn. 
Jan. 10 Da"\ �9�m�~�~ �s�h�v�i�l�l �e�,� T enn. 
Jan. 12 Spnn, �~�.�~�.� , �,�,�.�/�i�~�.� . Home 
Jan. 17 Lam ' �~�r�'� Home 
F eb. 1 Unio .1 

· _ �~�}� .; .Home 
F eb. 3 Was!}. n n iVI. St. Loms, Mo. 
F eb. 5 Davi .li. LipJlCOhl · .\ Home 
Feb. 7 Sewa ee 'jj J} . • Home 
F eb. 9 Oglet orpe (jl Atl anta, Ga. 
F eb. 11 Belhaven fJ Jack son, Miss. 
F eb. 12 Mill saps Jackson, Miss. 
Feb. 24-26 C.A.C. D anvill e, Ky. 

Home Game Time ___________ s:oo P.M . 
MALLORY GYMNASIUM 

As one of his 
first "public" 
duties as new 
Deputy Director 
of The United 
States Educa­
tional Founda­
tion in India, 

Schaeffer Eugene M. 
Schaeffer '49 accompanied this 
year's group of American Ful­
brighters on their annual visit 
with the President of India. 

Spokesman for the group, Mr. 
Schaeffer presented the group of 
100 or more to Dr. Radhakrish­
man at a public audience in the 
President's official residence, the 
Rashtrapati Bhavan. 

See Class of 1949 section of 
" With the Alumni" for additional 
information on Mr. Schaeffer. 

In 1958 Mr. Halliburton was 
awarded an honorary Doctor of Hu­
manities degree, and in October 1962 
he participated in the dedication of the 
Richard Halliburton Memorial Tower 
on the campus, a monument erected 
to the memory of his son. 

Dr. David Alexander, Southwestern 
president, said of Mr. Halliburton: 

" Few men are able to combine wis­
dom with the spirit of adventure as 
well as Mr. Halliburton. He believed in 
the ideals of Southwestern because he 
believed in students. He gave liberally 
of his substance and his spirit, and it 
is fitting that the lofty tower presides 
over the entire campus as a memorial 
to Richard Halliburton and now to Mr. 
and Mrs. Halliburton. In the stones of 
the tower, its symmetry and beauty, 
his ideals are crystallized as a re­
minder to all of us of the adventurous 
pursuit of genuineness and excellence." 

Dr. Peyton N. Rhodes referred to 
Mr. Halliburton as "an inspiration." 
"He was a rare individual who always 
looked to the future and never back­
ward. He was always good company 
and was vigorous in everything he 
did." 



ALUMNI SURVEY 
Many of the recent alumni ques­
tionnaries have been returned; 
however, a larger return is nec­
essary for proper evaluation and 
preparation of an alumni directory. 
Please fill your copy in immedi­
ately and return. If, by chance, 
you failed to receive a copy, notify 
the Alumni Office. 

IN MEMORIAM 
Ginder Abbott, class of 1897, 6801 

Vicksburg, New Orleans, Septem­
ber 8, 1965. 

William McHardy Berson '32, 73 
Interlaken Road, Orlando, Flor­
ida, September 4, 1965. 

Walton Leon Bryan '24, of West 
Palm Beach, Florida, date of 
death unknown. 

The Rev. Mr. Virgil L. Bryant, Sr. 
'16, of Bainbridge, Georgia, Au­
gust 15, 1965. 

Oliver Perry Cobb, Jr. '32, 190 South 
Perkins, July 2, 1965. 

The Rev. Dr. Robert E. Carroll '17, 
3617 E. Ocean Boulevard, Apt. 7, 
Long Beach, California, Decem­
ber, 1963. 

Mrs. Charles Compton Cayce (Mar­
ian Pape) '32, 2503 Roswell Ave­
nue, Apt. 201, Charlotte, N.C., in 
October,. 1964. ' 

Morris Kerr Clark, Jr. '16, New 
York City, in June, 1955. 

The Rev. Dr. William Moore Clark, 
class of 1900, 920 Maxwell Street, 
Orlando, Florida, August 25, 1965. 

Nicholas S. Demas '40, 1011 Cor­
regidore Circle, Evansville, In­
diana, June, 1965. 

William K. Fort '28, 2420 lOth Ave­
nue South, Birmingham, Ala­
bama, date of death unknown. 

Allen Gary '36, 4349 Gwynne Road, 
September 16, 1965. 

The Rev. Dr. David W. Hollings­
worth, class of 1897, of Florence, 
Alabama, May 22, 1965. 

Joanne Hunt '60, 1001 North Dear­
born, Chicago, June 25, 1965. 

Charles E. Lehmberg '28, of Colum­
bus, Mississippi, August 16, 1964. 

Dr. Perrin H. Lowrey '45, 5817 
South Blackstone Avenue, Chi­
cago, June 25, 1965. 

Doul;las James Manship '16, of 
Baton Rouge, Louisiana, date of 
death unknown. 

Mrs. Henry Seibert Morrow (Sara 
Orgain) '25, of Clarksville, T en­
nessee, date of death unknown. 

Mrs. Charles Palmer ill (Margaret 
Ford) '42, of Sheffield, Alabama, 
March 1, 1965. 

Rufus Leon Quarles '16, of Scooba, 
Mississippi, date of death un­
known. 

Capt. Leonard A. Redwine, USAF, 
'58, of Water Valley, Mississippi, 
in a plane crash in Columbia, 
South America, August 22, 1965. 

The Rev. Dr. Amos Leroy Rogers, 
Jr. '49, Kern Memorial Methodist 
Church, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, 
August 3, 1965. 

T. Polk Smith, class of 1897, of 
Clarksville, ·Tennessee, died at the 
home of his daughter, Mrs. Wil­
liam W. Cass, in Morristown, N .J ., 
July 10, 1965. 

Mrs. Roy Frank Spaulding (Edna 
Nunnery) '37, of Arcolo, Missis­
sippi, date of death unknown. 

The Rev. Dr. John Van Neste Tal­
mage '11, of Houston, Texas, Sep­
tember 12, 1964. 

Class of 1896 
The Rev. Dr. Charles S. Sholl is retired 

and living in Nolensville, Tenn. 

Class of 1897 
Albert T. Summey, P.O. Box 486, Wilming­

ton, N .C., is a retired real estate agent who 
enjoys fishing and some occasional golf. A 
member of the American National Red 
Cross and of the society of American Mili­
tai·y Engineers, he attends the First Pres­
byterian Church in Wilmington and is a 
former clerk of the Session. 

George Summey, Jr., P.O. Box 3007 Ridge­
crest Station, Bryan, Texas, earned his 
master's degree the year after his gradua­
tion from S.P.U. and his Pb,_.D., at Columbia 
University, in 1919. From 1922-1944 he was 
Head of the Department of English, Texas 
A .&M . College, and was Professor of Eng­
lish there from 1944 until his retirement in 
1957. A recognized authority on English 
composition, among his published writings 
are several books on modem American 
punctuation. 

Class of 1899 
Frank P. Gracey, 602 N.W. 1st Avenue, 

Delray Beach, Florida, heads the real estate 
and insurance firm of Gracey Bros. in 
Delray Beach. In business with him are two 
of his sons, Matt and Robert. 

Jack Percival Montgomery, 1918 9th 
Street, Tuscaloosa, Professor Emeritus of 
Organic Chemistry at the University of 
Alabama, is a charter member and past 
president of the Tuscaloosa Kiwanis Club, 
charter member and now Honorary Life 
Member of the American Institute of Chem­
ists, an Honorary Life Deacon of the 1st 
Baptist Church and former Sunday School 
Superintendent. He writes, in a firm, strong, 
hand, "Although now 88 and long since re­
tired I continue as much affiliation as pos­
sible with student groups at the University 
of Alabama." Dr. Montgomery earned the 
Ph.D. degree at the University of Virginia 
in 1903. 

Ezra Dillon Patton, 111 East Augusta 
Place, Greenville, S. C., retired after 57 years 
in the ministry of the Southem Presby­
terian Church, during which he was several 
times Moderator of the Presbytery and 
Commissioner to the General Assembly. 

Western, Oklahoma City. Some of his activ­
ities include having served as State Treas­
urer for 12 years, as State Auditor for 12 
years, and as a member of the Corporation 
Committee for 6 years; baseball and football 
are his favorite sports. 

Class of 1901 
Joseph Dunglinson, retired, lives at 610 

Azalea Avenue, Black Mountain, N. C. 
Southwestern conferred the degree of Doc­
tor of Divinity upon him in 1920, and the 
current college catalog lists "The Joseph 
Dunglinson Scholarship Fund, established by 
the First Presbyterian Church, Selma, Ala­
bama, in honor of its longtime and beloved 
minister, a 1901 graduate of Southwestern 
Presbyterian University, Clarksville, Tennes­
see." Sixteen devotional booklets written by 
him have been published-the first in the 
series being entitled "The Twenty-Third 
Psalm" and the last "Lift Up Your H earts." 

Class of 1903 
Thomas Hamilton Gaillard earned his 

medical degree at the University of Alabama 
and is a physician in Magnolia, Alabama, 
where he may be addressed at Post Of­
fice Box 32. 

Class of 1904 
Edward W. Walthal, prominent Memphis 

realtor, heads the firm of Walthal Brothers, 
with offices in the Commerce Title Building. 
Fishing and hunting, "the greatest sports 
in the world," are his favorite hobbies. He 
and Mrs. Walthal live at 637 South McLean 
Boulevard and are the parents of a daugh­
ter, Margaret, and a son, Ed., Jr., both of 
whom attended Southwestern. (Also an 
alumnus of the college was Mr. Walthal's 
father, who left in his junior year- 1861-to 
join the Confederate Army.) 

Class of 1906 
Robert Stuart Abbott, retired investments 

executive and an outstanding leader in com­
munity activities, is a past President of 
Kiwanis and Vice-President of the Chamber 
of Commerce, who enjoys hunting, fishing, 
and travel. He and Mrs. Abbott reside at 
2906 Georges Lane, Alexandria, Louisiana. 

George Lotterhos, 1200 Mission Canyon 
Road, Santa Barbara, California, writes that 
he has retired from medical practice and 

C'--s of 1900 spends a lot of time at his favorite hobby, 
IUUi gardening. He also serves on the board of 

Albert S. J. Shaw, 901 N .W. 25th, Okla- directors of the Mission Canyon Association 
homa City, is vice president of Home Fed- and is on the Honor List of the University 
era! Savings and Loan Association, 3001 S. of Pennsylvania School of . Medicine. 

�-�-�-�-�~�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�~�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�~� 

Ethel HarreU Marg.aret McKee Mary G. Beggs Mar)' Watkins 

Selected for inclusion in the 1965 edition of "Outstanding Young Women 
of Atnerica" are the following Southwestern graduates: 

Miss Frances Freeman '52 Miss Mary George Beggs '55 
Dr. Ethel Harrell '54 Mrs. Morgan Watkins 
Miss Margaret McKee '54 (Mary Rogers) '55 

"Outstanding Young Women of America" is an annual biographical compila­
tion of approximately 6,000 outstanding young women between the ages of 
21 and 36 who have distinguished them$elves in one or more fields o£ civic 
or professional endeavor. Guidelines for selection include unselfish service 
to others, charitable activities, community service, professional excellence, 
business advancement, and civic and professional recognition. Each year a 
different group of outstanding young women is included. 
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Class of 1907 
Whitfield Moore is the owner of Robert­

son Transfer Co., 2515 Broad St., Tuscaloosa. 
He and Mrs. Moore reside at 426 33rd Ave­
nue, Tuscaloosa. 

Miss Alice Woods, daughter of the late 
Dr. N. M. Woods, •chancellor of S.P.U., at­
tended Southwestern as its first co-ed. Re­
tired after a career of 40 years or teaching, 
she resides at 633 Rozelle. She holds a bache­
lor's degree .from Sienna College, and has 
done advanced study at Maryland Art Insti­
tute, at Columbia University, and at the 
Universities of Chicago, Colorado, Tennessee, 
and Memphis State. Her contributions to 
the educational and cultural life of Memphis 
are legion. 

Class of 1908 
Edwin Lee Carney, retired, was formerly 

Plant Manager of General Foods Corpora­
tion. Genealogy and following the stock 
market are his favorite hobbies. He and 
Mrs. Carney live at 325 Franklin Street, in 
Clarksville, Tenn. Also living in Clarksville 
are his brother, N. L. '10 and C. G. '12. 

Class of 1910 
Richard Asa Bolling is pastor emeritus 

of First Presbyterian Church, Cleveland, 
Miss. A Rotarian, Mason and Shriner, he has 
been awarded the Silver Beaver, highest 
honor given by the Boy Scouts to volunteer 
workers, is a trustee of Belhaven College 
and Chamberlain Hunt Academy, and a 
former Moderator, Synod of Mississippi. Dr. 
Bolling was honored by Southwestern in 
1933 when he received the Doctor of Divinity 
degree here. His special interests are still 
people and preaching; he includes auto trips 
among his favorite pursuits . . . with his 
unsurpassed energy, the inevitable con­
clusion is that he gets around quite a bit! 
He and Mrs. Bolling are the parents of a 
daughter and a son- the latter, Richard A. 
Bolling, Jr. '46, a resident of Memphis. 

After graduation from S.P.U. Norfleet 
Lynn Carney attended the University of 
Tennessee, where in 1913 he earned the B.S. 
degree in electrical engineering. In 1931 he 
received the M .S. degree in mechanical en­
gineering from the University of Kansas, 
and continued throughout the thirties to 
take further graduate work at George Pea­
body. A retired school administrator, he and 
Mrs. Carney may be addressed at Rural 
Route 8, Clarksville, Tenn. 

Everett Woods, 1756 Glenwood Place, one 
of Memphis' most prominent architects, 
heads the architectural firm which bears 
his name at 212 Adams Avenue. President 
of the Board of Trustees of Brooks Memo­
rial Art• Gallery, Chairman of the Advisory 
Board of the Memphis Museum, and a mem­
ber of the Code Revision Committee-Art 
Center Committee-City of Memphis, he is 
atso an Elder at Second Presbyterian 
Church. His hobbies are sketching, painting, 
and hiking. He and Mrs. Woods are the 
parents of two daughters and a son, all 
loyal Southwestern alumni. (See Class of 
1907.) 

Class of 1911 
Mebane Ramsay, 1212 West Mathews 

Street, Roswell, New Mexico, went from 
S.P.U. to the University of Omaha and 
thence to Princeton, where he earned the 
M.A. degree, and to Princeton Theological 
Seminary, where he graduated with a B.D. 
degree. Although retired from the active 
ministry, he continues active at Roswell 
Community College, whe:t:e he teaches a 
course in the Humanities, and at the First 
Presbyterian Church, where he instructs a 
class of young married people. Classmates 
will remember his father, the late Rev. 
Franklin P. Ramsay, who was a professor 
at Southwestern in Clarksville and his 
brother, the late Franklin P. �R�~�m�s�a�y�,� Jr., 
who attended the university in 1909 and 
1910. 

Eugene Crampton Scott, 855 Artwood 
Road N .E ., Atlanta, has served as interim 
minister in various churches for varying 
periods of time since his retirement, enjoys 
having time to indulge in his favorite hobby 

-reading, and to do a lot of work around 
home. A graduate of Union Theological 
Seminary, he was honored with the D .D. 
degree by Austin College, Sherman, Texas, 
in 1934. Dr. and Mrs. Scott are the parents 
of three married daughters, one of whom 
attended Southwestern. 

Howard L. Smith, retired v-president of 
American Snuff Company, and Mrs. Smith 
live at 801 Pinetree Road, Winter Park, 
Florida, and frequently take Baptist Church 
Library Conference Assignments in other 
states. Mr. Smith is engaged in numerous 
other Baptist activities-Chairman of Count­
ing Commission, Florida State Convention, 
member of the State Board of Missions, 
financial secretary, and member of the 
library staff. 

Class of 1912 
Poytress William Bell is a retired pas­

senger agent. With the exception of a year's 
service in France during the first World 
War, his entire "active" career was spent 
in association with the Illinois Central Rail­
road. Widely known and loved for his un­
failing courtesy to everyone with whom he 
deals, Mr. Bell remains a particular favorite 
with former sixth grade girls at Miss Hut­
chison's School . . . every fall for years he 
was one of the adults accompanying this 
group on an educational trip to New Or­
leans. He lives at 1763 Eastmoreland, is 
treasurer of the T. K. Young Class at Idle­
wild Presbyterian Church, an avid gardener, 
and one of the Memphis alumni who helped 
members of the Class of 1915 observe their 
50th Reunion in June. His daughter Ann 
is a member of the class of 1941. 

Irving P. Bright, merchant, is president 
of the firm which bears his name, at 407 
Broadway, Paducah, Ky. 

Kenneth Graves is a practicing physician 
in Roanoke, Virginia, where he is a member 
of the Roanoke Valley Heart Association, 
Roanoke Arthritis Medical Committee, for­
mer Secretary-Treasurer of the Virginia 
Board of Medical Examiners, and active in 
many other phases of community life. His 
special hobby is roses; he and Mrs. Graves 
reside at 35 Cardinal Road and have two 
married daughters. 

John Turner Gray, 233 North Grand Ave­
nue, Brownsville, Tenn., writes, "I have al­
ways appreciated my two years at South­
western (S.P.U.) and am very proud of 
Southwestern's present record." Mr. Gray 
transferred from S.P .U. to Washington and 
Lee, earning his B.A. degree there in 1911. 
An Elder in the Presbyterian Church and a 
member of the Tennessee Historical Com­
mission, he is Chancellor, Ninth Chancery 
Division, State of Tennessee, a former Dis­
trict Governor of Rotary, and a Phi Beta 
Kappa. He and Mrs. Gray are the parents 
of two daughters and a son, the latter a 
member of the class of 1953. 

Solon Thomas Hill, although retired from 
the active ministry, continues to serve as a 
supply preacher. He holds the A.B., A.M. , 
and B .D. degrees from Southwestern. He 
and Mrs. Hill are the parents of two daugh­
ters, one of whom, Irma Hill Smith (Mrs. 
J. R.), is a member of the class of 1942. The 
Rev. Mr. Hill should be addressed at 994 
Colgate Road in Memphis. 

Dr. Berthold Stamps Kennedy received 
the Doctor of Humanities degree from 
Southwestern in 1964. He earned the degree 
of Doctor of Medicine at the University of 
Chicago in 1917, practiced as a surgeon, and 
is now retired and living at Belle Mina, 
Alabama (P. 0. Box 127). A member of the 
American College of Surgeons and a Deacon 
of the First Presbyterian Church, Decatur, 
his favorite pastimes are golf, travel, and 
fishing. 

Of his "HOBBIES/SPECIAL INTER­
ESTS," Isaac Stuart McElroy writes, "1. 
Tennis at 73 is a good game if one does not 
try to act too young. 2. Bridge. 3. Putting 
up shelves for my wife." After earning his 
B.D. at Union Seminary the Rev. Mr. Mc­
Elroy was a missionary in Japan for five 
years. Upon his return he served pastorates 
in Tennessee and North Carolina, earned a 
master's degree at George Peabody College, 
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and for the next twenty-five years worked 
with the American Bible Society as District 
Secretary for Virginia, West Virginia, and 
North Carolina, retiring in June of 1961. 
The McElroys' address is 2500 Kenmore 
Road, Richmond, Virginia. 

Franklin Crane Talmage, retired but still 
in great demand as a supply preacher, lives 
at 2254 Lake Lucine Drive in Jacksonville, 
Florida. His favorite hobbies are cabinet 
making and gardening. In 1942 Dr. Talmage 
was honored by King College with the de­
gree of Doctor of Divinity . He was Secretary 
of Church Extension, Atlanta Presbytery, 
from 1937-57; Moderator Presbytery of At­
lanta 1927, 1933, and 1956; and Moderator, 
Synod of Georgia, in 1938. His published 
"History of Presbytery of Atlanta" and 
"History of the Synod of Georgia" stand as 
significant contributions to the Presbyterian 
Church in the United States. 

Thomas Ford Raines enjoys fishing, hunt­
ing, and golf in his spare time. He is as­
sociated with the Davis Insurance Agency 
in Houston, Texas, (P. 0. Box 22201). 

Class of 1913 
Claude G. Partridge is pastor of Williams 

Memorial Church, Route 3, Troy, Alabama. 
After his days at S.P.U. he completed re­
quirements for his bachelor's degree at the 
University of Louisville in 1915 and earned 
the B.D. degree the following year, at Louis­
ville Presbyterian Seminary. He and Mrs. 
Partridge have two married daughters. 

Frank C. Pinkerton retired from his prac­
tice of medicine four years ago when criti­
cally injured by a hit and run driver. Since 
then he has written many articles for 
various publications, had charge of the 
American Hospital, Guatemala, C.A., and 
kept busy with innumerable other projects. 
He and Mrs. Pinkerton and their daughter, 
Miss Martha Pinkerton, live at 3575 Seay 
Avenue in Norfolk, Virginia, and attend Sec­
ond Presbyterian Church. 

" 'Life by the mile, a trial! Life by the inch, 
a cinch!' We all know this bit of doggerel; 
but anyone scanning today's scene might 
say no one's heeding it . In a new book, 
Theodore S. Smylie takes seriously the idea 
of living a day at a time. The new collection 
of meditations, 'Taking Stock: Help for 
Daily Living,' was published by John Knox 
Press on October 11." Also the author of 
"The ABC's of Winning Men" and a group 
of sermons under the title "Pocket Pulpit 
Series," Dr. Smylie is pastor emeritus of 
Oak Hill Presbyterian Church, U .P.U.S.A., 
in St. Louis, chaplain at Bethesda General 
Hospital there. He and Mrs. Smylie reside 
at 3477 Macklind Avenue, have three sons 
in the ministry, one in business. Dr. Smylie's 
father, the late Nathaniel Smylie, class of 
1885 and later a member of the Southwest­
ern faculty, was also a Presbyterian min­
ister. 

Class of 1914 
Class President and Valedictorian Polk J. 

Atkinson lives at 1200 South Arlington Ridge 
Road in Arlington, Virginia, is a retired 
Colonel, U .S.A., and has a master's in educa­
tion which he earned at George Washington 
University in 1956. His grandfather, Mr. Q. 
C. Atkinson, was in the class of 1861 and 
his father, Quintus C. Atkinson, Jr., in the 
class of 1884; his son, Q. C. III, carries on 
a proud Southwestern name and follows in 
his father's footsteps . . . he's currently a 
Lt.Col. Col and Mrs. Atkinson also have a 
married daughter. 

Class of 1915 
Samuel Cuyler Dunbar farms at Wood­

lawn, Tennessee. He has been a Mason for 
fifty years, for ten years was superintendent 
of the Methodist Church School in Wood­
lawn, was a representative in the Tennessee 
Legislature for six years and a senator for 
four, and since 1957 has been chairman of 
the state Soil Conservation Committee. 

Class of 1916 
John Andrew Edmiston is president of 

Kelly Mercantile Co., Kellyville, Oklahoma, 

( continued on page 13) 



FORTY YEARS AGO ..• 

" ... we drove down Jackson Avenue to Trezevant, turned down 
Trezevant to North Parkway. As we drove along Trezevant Avenue, 
I saw vast spaces, the only buildings then existing in the vicinity 
being the big Gage home on Trezevant and Snowden School at the 
corner of North Parkway and McLean Boulevard, only part of which 
had been built at that time. There was plenty of ground between 
Trezevant and McLean. There were dairy farms in that whole sec­
tion. I said, 'You say there is no other ground except that way out 
east; what is the matter with this ground? who owns it?' Dr. Crowe 
said, 'I do not know who owns it, but I can take you to a man who 
will tell you.' I said, 'All right, let's go.' He took me to the office of 
Mr. E. B. LeMaster. I asked him if he knew the property opposite 
Overton Park, between Trezevant and McLean. 'Know it,' he replied, 
·r certainly do. That is the most valuable property in Memphis.' " 

In these words Dr. Diehl later recalled his exultation when final 
plans were being made in 1924 for the removal of Southwestern 
from Clarksville to Memphis. "A chance o.f a lifetime" he called it; 
we might prefer to call it a chance of several centuries. Surrounded 

by a stalwart band of Presbyterians and civic-minded Memphians, 
he built a college and built it well. 

Forty years ago-a generation in the Biblical sense--South­
western opened its five newly finished Gothic buildings. In that forty 
years a steady progress has lifted Southwestern into prominence and 
a national reputation for uncompromising excellence. The college 
now has twenty permanent buildings, more than eight thousand 
students have shared in its high academic and moral standards, and 
a full-time faculty of seventy-five now gives direction to the mental, 
spiritual, and physical development of almost 1000 students. It has 
grown in size and academic stature since 1925, but the goals were 
set and the aspirations declared then, and it has never deviated 
from those high resolves and noble ideals. 

Surely there is no better way by which to commemorate the 
fortieth anniversary of Southwestern in Memphis than to read again 
Dr. Diehl's address of November 27, 1925, and to regain the excite­
ment of those hope-brightened days in an album of contemporary 
photographs. 

FORTIETH ANNIVERSARY RE-ISSUE 

SOUTH WESTERN BULLETIN 
�~�I�E�~�I�P�H�I�S�,� TENNESSEE 

F 0 R EW ORD 

�m�~�:�:�:�:�:�:�S�i�i�a�'�i�Q�I �N� September 24, 1925, SouTHWEST­

ERN, The College of the Mississippi 

Valley, founded in Clarksville, Ten­

nessee, as Southwestern Presbyte-

nan University, opened its doors in Memphis, 

Tennessee. On November 26-28, SouTHWESTERN 

held a "Jubilee and Inaugural Celebration," the 

two-fold purpose of which was to commemorate 

its fifty years of service as a college, and to sol-

• emmze its opening in Memphis. On the second 

day of the celebration, in Hardie Auditorium of 

Palmer Hall, the college buildings were formally 

presented to the Board of Directors of SouTH­

WESTERN by the Reverend Albert Bruce Curry, 

D.D., of Memphis. In accepting the buildings on 

behalf of the Board, President Diehl took occasion 

to enunciate. the aims and ideals of SouTHWEST­

ERN. To his address this booklet is devoted. 

"Moral efficiency is the fundammtal ar­
gument for liberal culture." 

-Woodrow 11-"ilson. 

DECEMRER, 1925 
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"The Ideals of Southwestern" 

It may not be amiss at this time to say a few words about our 
ideals, about the motives which actuated us in our planning, about 
the purposes of this institution, to make clear what has been in our 
minds and what we are trying to do. A brief historical reference 
will enable us to do this the more understandingly. 

Before the Civil \Var there was on the part of the Presbyterian 
Church a well-defined policy of higher education for this territory. 
The program was to have one first-class Christian college for each 
Synod. The state system of schools had not been elaborated, and 
the education of this section was largely in the hands of the Presby­
terians. In each Synod there was a Presbyterian College, or the 
nucleus of one. Stewart College, LaGrange College and Oakland 
College were all doing excellent work, and were growing in en­
dowment, in equipment, in patronage and in prestige. The effect 
of the war upon these institutions was pitifully destructive, and 
the hardships of the reconstruction age intensified the burdens. There 
was nothing but desolation and poverty. The colleges were closed; 
in some cases the buildings were literally torn down and the equip­
ment destroyed. In other cases the property was confiscated and 
endowmepts were lost in Confederate money. But the Presbyterians 
did not despair. They determined to rebuild their schools along 
with their homes, their churches and their fortunes. There were no 
rich men who could heavily endow any of these institutions. The 
ground must be recovered inch by inch, a process which was slow 
and trying, but out of their poverty they gave even to the point 
of sacrifice. 

In view of this poverty and the consequent impossibility of re­
establishing all of the educational institutions owned by the Presby­
terian Church before the war, Dr. B. M. Palmer, of New Orleans, 
and other prominent leaders of the Church, notably Drs. ]. B. 
Shearer, John N. Waddel and Jas. A. Lyon, felt that it would be 
wise to change the ante bellum program. Their plan was that all 
these Synods should unite and pool their interests and build one 
university for the whole territory. This plan was finally approved, 
and after years of agitation and endeavor, Southwestern Presbyterian 



Science Building 

University came into being in 1875, having taken over as a nucleus 
the properties of Stewart College, a Presbyterian institution located 

· at Clarksville, Tenn. 

For the past fifty years this institution has functioned, and its 
record is honorable. It has never been a university in the proper 
sense of that term. It has been an excellent college of arts and 
sciences, to which for many years there was appended a theological 
department, which, by reason of lack of funds, had to be suspended 
in 191·7. The college was never adequately endowed or equipped. 
Good, honest work was done, and there were high moral and edu­
cational ideals. There were great teachers on its faculty, men who 
were poorly paid, who served in sacrificial devotion for the love of 
Christ, jlJst as truly as the missionaries who go to foreign lands. 

Twenty-five years ago the church came to realize that the in­
stitution was badly located for the territory it was presumed to 
serve, and an attempt was made to move it. That proposed re­
moval was .defeated by the action of the Court, and as a result the 

Ashner Gateway and Robb Hall 
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Church lost much of its enthusiasm for the college and neglected it. 
Tremendous advances have been made in education during the past 
quarter of a century. Standards have been raised, new equipment 
has been called for, expenses of all kinds have multiplied, but there 
was little or no increment to the endowment. The tide was at low 
ebb, and then it was found that Memphis wanted the College and 
the Synods wanted Memphis to have it. 

Here was the chance of a lifetime; a chance to set the standard 
of an institution for all time; a chance to go forth unhampered by 
past mistakes, architectural and other, and to launch an institution 
which was as nearly ideal for its purpose as painstaking investigation 
and careful thought and planning could make it. Realizing that 
the good is ever the enemy of the best, we did not seek merely tht> 
good, but the best. There was ever before us the idea of excellence. 
It was our purpose to launch here an institution which would en­
dure for centuries, and which would command the respect and 
quicken the pride of succeeding generations. 

The institution we were planning for was not a state or a 
municipal or an independent institution, but a Presbyterian insti­
tution; an institution which is avowedly Christian, and which as 
such is shot through with that passion for honesty and that hatred 
for all sham which is really fundamental in any interpretation of 
Christianity, and without which no institution can be regilrded as 
Christian, whatever be its claims, its forms of government, its courses 
of study, or its ceremonies. 

Further, this institution was not to be a university or a technical 
school or a professional school, but a college of liberal culture. We 
were not planning a university, not only because of the enormous. 
amount of money necessary for such an institution-money which 
was not available-but also because we were not interested at this 
time in establishing a university. The institution we had in mind 
was one which was vitally concerned with scholarship, but which 
was even more concerned wth character and manhood; an insti­
tution which believes in the life eternal, and, as a consequence, in 
real moral values; an institution which stands for the essential per­
manence of truth, beauty and goodness. 

We were planning an institution which indeed some day may 
become a university, but which now seeks to give a liberal education; 
one which does not primarily concern itself with utilitarian values, 

Cloister 
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but which contemplates a disciplined mind, a freed soul, a broadened 
personality, and an upright life. Cardinal Newman points out that 
there is no one word in the English language to express this ob­
jective of liberal education. We have the word "health" when 
used in reference to the body, and the word "virtue" when used 
in reference to our moral nature, but we must explain in many words 
what we mean by a liberal education. Kant says, "l\llan's greatest 
concern is to know how he shall properly fill his place in the universe 
and correctly understand what he must be and do in order to be 
a man." The college we were planning for was to attempt to teach 
its students something of human life, man, and the world, and to 
lead them to master human life; to know it as a whole. 

A Bit of the Wooded Campus 

We had before us ever the ideal of excellence, of the belit for 
the purposes we had in mind. We did not and do not care at all 
about mere bigness or numbers. We have had much to say through 
the past years about the superiority of the small college, and we 
might have been making a virtue out of necessity, but we were not. 
We still believe what through the years we have been saying, and 
we realize that this College in Memphis could not remain small. 
Therefore, we sought in our planning to preserve the advantages of 
the small college, in spite of the fact that the numbers will increase, 
by adopting in large measure the Oxford plan of a cluster of small 
colleges, making such adaptations of this scheme as seemed wise 
and beneficial. The plan provided for unit colleges of from 1 so 
to 200 students as about the ideal size for the helpful development 
of a common life, and, further, for the breaking up of this number 
into small groups for more intimate fellowship. This unit college 
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was to have a common dining hall, but was to be housed in five 
small dom1itories, each of which would care for some thirty-five men 
and an instructor. 

To adopt this plan would not be the cheapest way to handle 
the situation, but it would be the best for developing men and 
women. 'Ve were not unmindful of the difficulty of securing funds 
or of the sacrifices represented by many of the funds entrusted to 
us, and \Ye felt that it was our sacred duty to husband our resources, 
to make every expenditure count, and to secure the full value for 
every dollar expended; but we did not feel that economy was the 
only consideration, or even the first consideration, nor that cheapness 
is necessarily economy. Therefore, our Board of Directors nearly 
four years ago officially adopted this principle: "That, while every 
proper economy will be observed in the planning for and the ad­
ministration of SocTHWESTERN, the fundamental principle upon 
which all our planning shall proceed is the welfare, and especially 
the moral welfare, of the students, for whom the institution exists, 
even though the application of this principle proves to be more costly 
in dollars and cents." 

With this general principle in mind we entered upon our task. 
We have studied other institutions and have profited by their ex­
cellences and their mistakes. We have received help from many 
sources, but we have copied nothing and we have slavishly followed 
no one. Each institution should have its own individuality, and 
should work out its own problems for itself. 

Dining Hall (left) ; Calvin Hall (right) 

In selecting the site we sought the best for our purpose-the ideal 
location and sufficient ground for the developments of the long fu­
ture. It was not the cheapest ground available, but it was the best, 
and, as a matter of fact, as a result of the generous co-operation of 
Messrs. E. B. LeMaster, R. B. Snowden, J. T. Fargason, W. A. 
Hein and Mayor Rowlett Paine, it was secured at a remarkably low 
cost. 

Having decided to build along collegiate Gothic lines because 
of the infinite variety and charm of that type of architecture, we 
sought to discover and ally with us the outstanding authority in 
this country on collegiate Gothic. We secured Mr. Chas. Z. Klau­
der, of Philadelphia, as our consulting architect. Because of his 
connection and training with Mr. Klauder, his accessibility and his 
experience in the South, we secured Mr. Henry C. Hibbs, of Nash-



ville, as the architect responsible to us; and because of their out­
standing ability and their familiarity with local conditions, we secured 
also the firm of Jones & Furbringer as supervising architects. 

There is in this country much pseudo-Gothic architecture, a cheap 
imitation which ma-y content the ignorant or untrained, but which 
calls forth the contemptuous ire of the enlightened critic. This we 
proposed to avoid. Genuineness is characteristic of the heart of this 
institution, and we wanted this note sounded everywhere, even in 
the construction of the physical plant. It was to be enduring, for we 
w..ere building for generations to come. It was to be beautiful, fm 
the aesthetic side of man's nature is important and a college of 
liberal culture dare not overlook it. It was to be genuine throughout, 
free from all substitutions and cheap, make-believe effects, for this 
college has a hatred for sham. It is a source of satisfaction to know 
that our architectural ideal has been realized, and that not even 
the most caustic and unfriendly critic can now or hereafter indulge 
in a smile of derision at our expense. 

It is encouraging, too, to note that, while we believe these an· 
the most beautiful college buildings in the South, they are not the 
most expensive, and they are much less expensive than are the same 
sort of buildings in those two colleges in the North where such 
buildings are found. This is due in part to the fact that we bought 
our own quarry at a very reasonable cost and that we quarry our 
own stone. Thus, in addition to having an adequate supply of ideal 
building material for the future, we are able to construct these 
buildings as cheaply as we could construct them of brick. 

For years some men have thought of a college as Mark Hopkins 
on one end of a log and a student on the other. That day, however, 
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has long since passed. We still need Mark Hopkins and the student, 
but in this day, for the sciences at least, there must be a great deal 
of equipment on that log. Through the past years this inadequate 
equipment has been our most conscious need. We determined now to 
provide properly for our sciences, and we have done so. Every proper 
economy was practiced, but nothing essential was omitted. Our 
laboratory, which still awaits a donor to be finally named, is prob­
ably the last word in a chemical laboratory for a college of arts 
and sciences. Eventually it will be used solely for chemistry, but at 
present it houses all the sciences. 

If we had been planning an institution of a different type, it 
would have been possible to open the college without making pro­
vision for the residential group of buildings, but we could not be 
true to our ideal of a Christian college in Memphis without including 
at least the beginnings of the reisdential group. This group also is 
correct architecturally, and it is planned with the greatest care in 
accordance with our expressed ideal. The barracks or factory plan 
where the students are herded like cattle is cheap, but it did not 
conform to our ideal. Nor, on the other hand, did the plan of 
furnishing luxurious suites with private baths or with lavatories 
in the rooms appeal to us as wise. We had in mind the student, 
and endeavored to plan so that we could expect him to do his best 
work and attain his highest development. We had in mind the de­
velopment, not only of his intellectual, but also of his moral and 
social and aesthetic nature. The dormitories were to be comfort­
able, sanitary, enduring and beautiful. They were to have about 
them the atmosphere of home. And thus there is nothing monu­
mental about them. There is no suggestion of a horde or a throng, 
but the domestic note is sounded, as distinguished from the insti­
tutional. 
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For the most part there are suites of two rooms for two men­
a common study and a common sleeping room, the arrangement which 
is best adapted for Southern students, and which is preferred by 
them. Some rooms are naturally more desirable than others, but 
the same price is charged for each, a system which we trust will 
encourage the spirit of democracy. A living room or social room 
is f·ound in each dormitory, which we believe will mean a great deal 
in the social and religious development of the students. There they 
can gather for their hall meetings, for mission study classes, for 
keeping the morning watch, for . teas, and for other social events. 

This we felt was the minimum plant with which we could open 
a college of this kind, and we knew also, with the exception of a 
temporary provision for physical development, that it was the max­
imum plant until the present buildings are fully provided for, unless 
some one should give as a memorial other dormitories or faculty 
residences, which are sadly needed. 

We recognize that man is a gregarious animal, and that it is 
natural that young men and young women should surround them­
selves with congenial associates. We believe that properly conducted 
fraternities and sororities are on the whole beneficial to the student. 
We approve the policy of having fraternity and sorority houses, 
provided that these are on the campus under college jurisdiction and 
that they are merely lodges, or club houses, but we do not favor 
residential houses. The college is quite willing to co-operate with 
these various groups in developing fraternity and sorority quadrangles, 
in each of which the college will plan to erect a building for the non­
fraternity and the non-sorority students, houses which shall be quite 
as attractive as those of the other groups. In order that there may 
be no unseemly rivalry, the groups themselves through the Pan­
Hellenic Council will determine the maximum and minimum cost 
of these houses, and in order that the plant may be a harmonious 
whole the President and the architect of the college will approve the 
plans and specifications of each structure. 

Calvin Hall 
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Men's Residence Halls 

The instructional cost of higher education is well-known, and 
it is impossible to do the work properly for less than the recognized 
minimum cost, which is from $400 to $450 per student. Where 
it is done for less, it is done either at the expense of the faculty 
or the student, or both. With the ideal of excellence before us, 
and with an utter disregard for mere numbers, it is not surprising 
that we should feel that we could render the largest service by 
training adequately a comparatively small number of select students, 
in accordance with our means, rather than by accepting all who de­
sired to come, and then doing the best we could for them with the 
limited means at our disposal. It is our plan, therefore, to limit 
the number of students we accept by our ability to give them the 
best advantages. As our funds increase, more students will be 
accepted. We would rather do a limited work thoroughly and well 
than to attempt a larger work which we could not do in accordance 
with our ideal. 

Since our student body must be limited we believe that we should 
be most careful in its selection. Why should we waste our time on 
those who are not prepared to do first-class college work or who are 
not motived by a serious purpose? We seek not the rich or the 
socially prominent, but the worthy-those who are morally sound, 
who are intellectually fit, and who have the desire to excel. We 
believe that this college has a definite contribution to make to its 
students and to society, and that this can best be done in the lives 
of those who spend here four full ;years, and, for this reason, as 
well as for others, we shall not encourage the reception of transfer 
students. 

It is our ideal to attempt nothing that we cannot do as well as it 
can be done in this country, and for this reason we are offering only 
the bachelor's degrees. We are conservative, but our faces are toward 
the morning. We know of few if any short cuts. We are not con­
cerned with half-baked theories or with foolish experimenting. With 
regard to methods we believe, with Pope, that we should 

"Be not the first by whom the new are tried, 
Nor yet the last to lay the old aside." 
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The time will never come when the teacher is not the most 
important part of the college. He is the college in the active sense; 
all other things are circumstances, machinery, arrangements. He is 
the mind that learns and teaches. If he does well, then all is well; 
if he does ill, the college is a failure. It is of the utmost importance; 
therefore, that the instructional force should be made up, not of 
immature and inexperienced teachers who can be secured at small 
cost, but of inspiring teachers, great personalities, who seek to advance 
knowledge not only among themselves, but among their students, 
who are anxious that their students should develop, not only in in­
tellect, but in character, in their whole personalities. We believe, 
therefore, that it is for the best interests of the work to have a com­
paratively small faculty of well-paid, full professors rather than to 
have a larger faculty composed mainly of assistant professors and 
instructors who are serving on a lower salary scale. We desire in 
this college only professors who have a whole-hearted allegiance to 
Jesus Christ, but they must also be men of sound scholarship and 
men who are deeply interested in the well-rounded development of 
their students. Some institutions may be content with a perfunctory 
interest or professional relationship on the part of a professor towards 
his students, but we seek men who, in addition to the interest they 
naturally have in the mastery of their particular subjects, are inter-
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ested quite as much in the welfare of these awkward, careless, foolish, 
thoughtless, but lovable boys and girls. Such a teacher has little time 
for the things which give him reputation among his colleagues, and 
often he is ignored or overlooked but such teachers are valuable 
to society beyond the price of rubies. 

Not all of our ideals are fully realized, particularly those relating 
to the payment of adequate salaries to the members of our faculty 
and of providing for them comfortable homes, but for the most part 
we have carried out our plans as they have been briefly sketched, and 
we hope before long to be able to do for our faculty that which it 
so eminently merits. 

With high resolve and honest purpose SouTHWESTERN opens 
her doors in Memphis. She holds aloft the unpurchasables as the 
objects of desire and bears an unfaltering testimony to the value 
of spiritual ideals. She seeks to prepare for generations yet unborn 
by handing down unsullied to this generation our rich heritage of 
the past. She labors to send out men and women with strong char­
acters and disciplined minds which are to be put at the disposal of 
the world's need for the solution of its desperate problems, for the 
alleviation of its myriad ilis, and for the bringing in of that better 
day when wrong shall cease, and liberty and love and truth and 
right o'er all the earth are known as in their throne above. 



With the Alumni 
( continued from page 4) 
in addition to having stock and oil interests. 
He has served both as mayor and postmaster 
of Kellyville, is active in the Lion's Club, 
Red Cross, and Blue Birds, is a member 
of the school board and a bank director. 
Farming and grandchildren are his "Special 
Interests." 

Campbell Creighton Edmondson, retired 
from the practice of medicine, resides at 
304 Frederick Street, Waukesha, Wisconsin. 
He and Mrs. Edmondson have a married 
daughter, Mrs. David Richards, and a son, 
Robert Campbell Edmondson, who is also 
a doctor. 

Class of 1917 
William R. Atkinson, Ph.D., 768 Charles 

Place, prominent Memphis psychologist, 
heads the Psychological Service Center with 
offices in the Methodist Hospital Building. 
He is a former Professor of Psychology and 
Education (1922-47) at Southwestern and 
former Director of the Hutchison School 
(1947-59), a Fellow of the American Psycho­
logical Association, a Rotarian, and a mem­
ber of the American Speech Foundation. His 
hobbies are reading and gardening, and he 
is the author of several pamphlets and 
articles on Mental Health, Discipline, How 
to Study, and Better Ways of Learning. He 
and Mrs. Atkinson, the former Amelia Ap­
pleton and a Southwestern graduate, are 
the parents of a married daughter, fond 
grandparents of two little granddaughters. 

Richard Edward Davis, 822 High Street, 
Trenton, Tenn., is editor (also printer and 
publisher) of "The Herald-Register," 304 
West First Street in Trenton. Music, tennis, 
and hunting are favorite hobbies. He is a 
past district governor of Exchange Clubs, 
Mississippi Delta, a past president of the 
Chamber of Commerce and also of the 
Trenton Rotary Club, of which he is a 
charter member. It was he who first pro­
posed, and helped to organize and run, the 
Gibson County Stockyards, Inc. He is a 
former superintendent of the Methodist 
Church School, choir director, and a mem­
ber of the official board of the Methodist 
Church. 

George Grille has retired and is living in 
Clifton, Virginia, where he enjoys gardening 
and fishing. 

Turner Joel Jones, also retired, resides at 
Idlewild, Route 1, Talladega, Ala. After earn­
ing a master's degree at the University of 
Alabama, he went on to a career in bank­
ing, insurance, real estate, and farming. At 
present a Director of Talladega National 
Bank, he has served as Deacon and Elder 
at the First Presbyterian Church and for 
several terms on the Board of Trustees of 
the Alabama Presbyterian Home for Chil­
dren. He's a former chairman of the execu­
tive committee of trustees, Alabama School 
for Deaf and Blind; local post commander 
of the American Legion, and a director of 
the Chamber of Commerce, Kiwanis, and 
Talladega Citizens Hospital. Mr. Jones wrote 
that on the day he filled out his question­
naire he had received a postcard from Dr. 
George Lang '05, who was then making an­
other visit to Scotland .. . Dr. Lang's ad­
dress is Post Office Box 282, Tuscaloosa, 
Alabama. 

Robert Marshall McGehee, Cherokee Drive, 
Centreville, Miss., enjoys woodworking and 
gardening. Though retired, he still serves 
on the Extension Committee of South Mis­
sissippi Presbytery. Dr. McGehee earned the 
Th.M. and Th.D. degrees at Union Theo­
logical Seminary and was honored by Emory 
University with the D.D. He has done addi­
tional graduate work at L.S.U. and Emory, 
written a still unpublished "History of Red 
River Presbytery" and a work titled "His­
tory of Young People's Conferences," used 
in four seminary libraries. He is a former 
Regional Director of Christian Education 
in Louisiana, in 1954 was named Rural 
Minister of the Year for that state, and has 
served as Chairman of Church Extension, 
Louisiana Presbytery. A member of all York 

Rite bodies of Masonry and Shrine, for 
several years he was Grand Chaplain (he 
is now Grand Chaplain Emeritus) for the 
Grand Chapter, Grand Council, and Grand 
Lodge of Louisiana and for four years 
served as President of the Order of High 
Priesthood. He and Mrs. McGehee have 
four sons, three of whom are Presbyterian 
ministers and one, the Rev. Mr. Joseph A. 
McGehee, a 1943 Southwestern graduate. 

Class of 1918 
John William Davis joined the ranks of 

the honorably retired in September, 1964, 
when he and Mrs. Davis returned to Kings­
tree, S. C., where they had begun their 
married life and he his active ministry in 
1920. Pastorates served by The Rev. Mr. 
Davis are: Williamsburg Presbyterian 
Church, Kingstree, 1920-44; Minden Presby­
terian Church, Minden, La., 1944-54; and 
Trenton and Johnston Presbyterian 
Churches, Johnston, S. C., 1953-64. Fishing 
and hunting are his favorite sports. The 
Davises live at 207 Heller Street in Kings­
tree; their son, J. W. Jr., resides in Green­
ville, S. C. 

Walton Lawrence Smith, 311 Kingwood 
Drive, Murfreesboro, Tenn., retired in 1962. 
The Rev. Mr. Smith earned the B.D. degree 
at Union Theological Seminary and the 
Th.M. at Princeton Theological Seminary. 
Mrs. Smith is a graduate of Tenn. College in 
Murfreesboro and has a master of arts 
degree from Columbia University in N.Y. C. 

Arthur Lee Twila has retired after 38 
years with Ely & Walker D. G. Co. of St. 
Louis, and he and Mrs. Twila live at 114 S. 
5th St., Carmi, Ill . He takes particular in­
terest in community affairs and is a past 
president of the local school board. Active in 
the Church of Christ, he is also a Rotarian 
and a Shriner. 

Class of 1919 
Rhea Kuykendall, 1100 Santa Rita Street, 

Silver City, ·New Mexico, has been included 
for a number of years in "Who's Who in the 
West." A retired minister, his hobbies and 
special interests include archeology, gen­
ealogy, local history, deer hunting (he's part 
Cherokee), chess, and the study of Spanish. 
Included among his published writings are 
"My hoss-racing Cherokee Ancestors," the 
Kuykendall chapter In "Millers of Millers­
burg," the Pierce and Caruthers families in 
"Stirpes of Texas," a series of volumes titled 
"This is Silver City," and a newspaper 
column "Old Tales Retold." 

Orion Mitchell writes that we may not 
find many imprints of his work, from an 
educational standpoint, at S.P.U., but that 
he was a member of probably the best base­
ball team in the history of the school. His 
career included eight years of professional 
baseball, teaching and coaching at Albany 
High School and later at Abraham Baldwin 
Agricultural College. For the past 15 years 
he has been associated with the Coca-Cola 
Bottling Co. in Albany, Ga., of which he is 
manager. He is also interested in cattle 
farming, and is active in the Chamber of 
Commerce, Red Cross, Cancer Society, Ki­
wanis Club, and the Methodist Church. The 
Mitchells' address is Byron Road, Albany. 
They have four grown children, three sons 
and a daughter. 

Marion Leigh MacQueen, Professor of 
Mathematics at Southwestern and Chairman 
of the Department (of Mathematics) since 
1955, earned his master's degree at the Uni­
versity of Wisconsin in 1923 and the Ph.D. 
degree at the University of Chicago in 1933. 
A Phi Beta Kappa, "Mac" is a member of 
Chi Beta Phi, O.D.K., Sigma Xi, and of the 
Mathematical Assoc. of America, Amer. 
Mathematical Society, and National Council 
of Teachers of Mathematics. He was Alumni 
Secretary and Editor of the Alumni Maga­
zine from 1928-34; Secretary of the Cen­
tennial and Inaugural Committee, 1949; 
Chairman of the Burrow Library Dedication 
Committee, 1953; Secretary of the Faculty, 
1945-65; Chairman of the Committee on Re­
search and Creative Activity , 1949-66. He's 
been a Visiting Professor of Mathematics 
at the University of Tennessee during the 
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summers since 1961 and has written in­
numerable research papers for national 
mathematical journals. Mrs. MacQueen is 
the former Grace Gilfillan, an alumna of 
Southwestern; their two sons are also 
alumni, as are their wives. 

Edward Watson Wood is retired and liv­
ing in Ocean Springs, Mississippi, a good 
place to indulge his favorite hobby, fishing. 
He is a member of the Board of Trustees 
of Belhaven College (of which Mrs. Wood 
is an alumna); President of the Board of 
Howard Memorial Hospital, Biloxi; and 
Stated Clerk, South Mississippi Presbytery. 
Before his retirement he was associated 
with the Chicago firm of Wood-Hutchinson. 
The Woods may be addressed at 219 Wash­
ington, Ocean Springs. Their only son, E . W., 
Jr., resides in Baltimore. 

Class of 1926 
John Redhead's latest book, titled "Guid­

ance from Men of God," was published Sep­
tember 13 by Abingdon Press, Nashville. 
"What Life does to you depends upon what 
it finds in you. The most important thing 
is not always what happens to you but how 
you take what happens to you." Dr. Red­
head says these words in regard to Jonah, 
and they exemplify the style in which the 
author relates biblical lives to our own. Dr. 
Redhead has been pastor of First Presby­
terian Church in Greensboro, N. C., for the 
past twenty years. He is also known as the 
warm and convincing personality of the 
Protestant Hour, the National Radio Pulpit, 
and the Columbia Church of the Air on 
nationwide radio networks. Six books, radio 
and television appearances, and contribu­
tions to books and periodicals have widened 
his reputation as a popular interpreter of 
Christianity. 

Class of 1929 
Methodist Music Men of Memphis, recog­

nized as outstanding, sang in the big Allen 
& Rossi show for SUN at the Coliseum in 
September. They're under the direction of 
Wilson Mount, have a new album out, titled 
"Rise Up, 0 Men of God," profits from 
which will help finance their annual trip to 
the Layman's Conference at Lake Junaluska, 
N . C., next summer. Wilson is one of the 
album's soloists-it's his voice you hear sing­
ing "Just a Closer Walk." 

Class of 1930 
The Honorable Charles A. Rond, Chair­

man of Finance and Church Property for 
the Episcopal Diocese of Tennessee, ad­
dressed in his inimitable fashion the lay­
man's conference held at DuBose (Tenn.), 
September 10-12. 

Class of 1931 
Pauline Barton Blaylock (Mrs. Auvergne) 

has moved from her home in Chickasaw 
Gardens to Apt. 802, 475 South Perkins . .. 
finds this much more convenient to her new 
business- she owns and manages the Book 
Rack, 691 S. Mendenhall. 

Class of 1934 
Clough Eaton, head of his own firm, served 

as chairman of the Home Builders Associa­
tion of Memphis in the recent Shelby United 
Neighbors drive. 

Class of 1935 
John M. Cone, Maj. Gen., USA, is the new 

commanding general at White Sands Missile 
Range, having been transferred there from 
Alexandria, Va., in July. His address is 214 
Goddard Avenue, White Sands Missile Range, 
New Mexico 88002. 

"Thomas Holcroft and the Revolutionary 
Novel" is a new work by Rodney Baine, pub­
lished this year by the University of Georgia 
Press as "University of Georgia Monograph 
#13." It deals with "the tragedy of a de­
voted liberal popular during a period of 
democratic sympathies and unwilling to re­
cant in a period of reaction . . . vividly ex­
hibited in the fiction of Thomas Holcroft, 
England's first revolutionary novelist. 
Branded as 'acquitted felon,' he was misun­
derstood during later years and after death. 
From the very first Holcroft insisted on the 



moral function of fiction." Dr. Baine is As­
sociate Professor of English at the Uni­
versity of Georgia. 

Class of 1938 
With the two girls off at college and son 

Marty at the Taft School, Janet Tucker 
Pryor (Mrs. Downing) has solved "that 
empty feeling" by joining the faculty of 
Lausanne School, where she is teaching a 
course in modern society. There was excite­
ment and commotion in the Pryors' neigh­
borhood several weeks ago when their pet 
parrot, a gift some years back from Sam 
McCullogh, decided he preferred the in­
dependent life. Off he flew one morning, 
tantalized " family" and neighbors by perch­
ing-just out of reach- refusing all entice­
ments and entreaties to return. Came the 
rains; "Pete's" wings got water-logged 
. . . he was easy prey for Downing and 
Charlie Crump to "bag" with Charlie's swim­
ming-pool-net. Where? In one of Aggie 
(Ming) and Hubert Turley's trees. 

John Ricker, President of Marine Office 
Company, Inc., New York City, returned to 
his home diocese to address Tennessee lay­
men of the Episcopal Church at their an­
nual conference at DuBose, September 10-12. 

Class of 1939 
Leslie Buchman '38 flew to Rome for a 

family reunion this past July. Daughter 
Leslie '63 also joined the family there, for 
a tour of Italy and Greece. Leslie Sr. re­
turned in August, while the other members 
of the family, Annie Rose (Wallace), their 
son Jim, and another daughter, Dana, drove 
through Bavaria, Switzerland, and France 
before coming home. 

Class of 1941 
Penelope (Mielenz) and Harold Bisbort 

are at home at 1455 Altamont Drive, Decatur, 
Georgia. Harold is a retired Colonel, En­
gineer Corps; they've had tours of duty in 
such interesting faraway places as Paris 
and Japan, have four children-James, 17, 
Patricia and Alan, 13 and 12, who were 
both born in Tokyo, and Mary Nell, 9. 

Peggy and Frank Jemison, 1054 Audubon 
Drive, last summer leased an apartment in 
Paris for themselves arid their 3 children, 
which they used as "home base" between 
trips to many of the countries on the con­
tinent. 

Peggy Houston Kirkpatrick (Mrs. William 
C., Jr.) is now living in DeKalb, Illinois, 
after eleven years in southern California 
... Dr. Kirkpatrick, formerly on the faculty 
at USC and coordinator of music for the 
high schools of South Pasadena, has ac­
cepted a new post at the University of 
Northern• Illinois . They live in the DeKalb 
Suburban Apartments, #1504, with their ten 
year old daughter . . . have a married 
daughter who, in California with her hus­
band and baby, moved into their "old" house 
there. 

Eugenia Carter Lee (Mrs. Frank C.), 222 
Colebrook Drive, San Antonio, was in town 
during August visiting her mother, Mrs. M . 
0. Carter, at Parkway House, and seeing 
old friends. 

Anne (Draper) and Robie Macauley, have 
lived abroad and travelled extensively for 
the last few years, are now at home in 
Gambier, Ohio, where he is Editor of the 
"Kenyon Review," Kenyon College . 

. Jac Ruffin, formerly pastor of Little 
Rock's Second Presbyterian Church, has 
accepted a call to First Presbyterian in 
N atchez. 

Small world ... advertising exec Bill Van 
Dyke and Henry Watkins '35 are both with 
Universal C.I.T. Credit Corporation, of 
which Henry is president. Bill and Dorothy 
I nee Wilkerson) liv e at 166 East 61st St., 
Apt. 15-G, in New York. 

Class of 1942 
.James V. Holcombe is assistant to the 

vice-president of Northrop Corporation, 
manufacturers of missiles, aircraft, and 
guidance systems. His address is 12 Rue 
Hamelin, Paris, France. 

Class of 1944 
Kenny Holland is the proud father of a 

son born April 1, 1965, and named Michael 
William Holland. Both Kenny and Mrs. 
Holland have Ph.D.s from the University of 
Arkansas; Kenny's associate professor of 
physical education at Northeastern State 
College, Tahlequah, Oklahoma. Their home 
address there is 407 East Janet. 

Class of 1945 
Bill Mason is the new vice president of 

the Tennessee Pediatric Society Convention. 
"Home" is still 205 Pinehurst, but he has 
new offices at 776 Mt. Moriah Road. 

Class of 1946 
Virginia (Ballou) Treadwell has deserted 

the home decor field for that of real estate 
-recently joined the sales force at Boyle 
Investment Company. H:er address is 2901 
Frances; her older son George is in the cur­
rent sophomore class. 

Class of 1947 
John Wilson is now pastor at St. Andrew's 

Presbyterian Church, 32nd Street and Cen­
tenary Drive in Little Rock. He and Mrs. 
Wilson are living temporarily at 74 Belmont 
Drive there. 

Class of 1949 
June (Morrow) and Eugene Schaeffer 

were at home for a visit in the summer ... 
Gene on leave from duty as deputy director 
of the United States Educational Founda­
tion a United States Information Service 
ope;ation with headquarters in New Delhi. 
Of USIS operations, he said, "We are trying 
to present positively stories and articles on 
major aspects of American life and society, 
including the development of economic and 
foreign p·oJicy programs." A primary aim of 
USIS in India is to show that as two great 
democracies, the basic interests of India and 
the United States are essentially the same. 
"It does take a philosophical mind to see 
beyond the superficial differences of the 
countries to a close fundamental compari­
son," he said. The Schaeffers expect to be 
in India another two years; may be ad­
dressed c/o The American Embassy, APO 
09675, New York, N. Y. 

Class of 1950 
Don Ellis was on campus briefly in Oc­

tober, accompanied by his extremely attrac­
tively wife, Clara, en route to the Evangelis­
tic Conference in Wichita, Kansas. This was 
the first time Don had returned since stu­
dent days, and his appreciation of South­
western's beauty and enthusiasm regarding 
all the "new" buildings was unrestrained. He 
is minister of membership of the West 
Market Methodist Church, Greensboro, N . C. 
He and Clara have four sons and one daugh­
ter, ranging in age from 13 to 2 years; their 
home address is 3007 Northampton Drive. 

Barbara and Tom Smith have moved from 
Rockville to Dayton, Maryland, where their 
address is simply, Howard Street. They have 
three children, Susan, 8, Evan, 5, and Bryan, 
1. 

Class of 1951 
Terry <Fisher) and Robert Schroder, 2626 

Sandpiper Avenue, are the parents of a sec­
ond daughter, Susan, who was born May 27. 
Their other children are Clara, 4, and Robert 
junior, 2. 

Jack Funkhouser, 323Yz N.W. 15th St., 
Gainesville, Florida, is still teaching at the 
University of Florida (assistant professor, 
humanities), is now also director of the 
university Teaching Resources Center and 
president of a private preparatory school in 
Ocala. 

Class of 1952 
Ed Hamlet, 5295 Quince Road, has for­

saken a career in banking for one as an 
attorney; he is associated with the firm of 
Krivcher and Cox. 

Andy Orr received his M.A . degree from 
the University of Virginia in June and is 
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continuing graduate study there (Box 3191, 
University, Charlottesville, Va.). He earned 
his B.D. at the University of the South, 
Sewanee, and for several years prior to his 
return to the academic life was the assistant 
rector at Calvary Episcopal Church here. 

Roy Page and his wife, Margaret, toured 
Europe for two months last summer after 
Roy had completed special training in oncol­
ogy at Memorial Hospital in N.Y.C. They 
sailed on the "Kungsholm" to Copenhagen, 
then motored through Sweden and Norway, 
visiting hospitals and medical centers at 
Stockholm and Oslo, traveled to Belgium, 
France, and Italy before returning to Mem­
phis, where Roy has joined his brothers, 
Dr. Alfred Page '37 and Dr. Gene Page '48, 
in medical practice. He and Margaret live 
at 398 Greenfield Road with their two chil­
dren, Brad, 5, and Lisa, 1. 

Class of 1954 
Jack Kahn, 445 Sharon, formerly an as­

sistant vice president at First National Bank 
of Memphis, has entered the academic field 
and is teaching in the School of Business at 
Memphis State University. 

Mr . and Mrs. John Greenaway (Jennie Lee 
Davis), 130 East 61st Pk., New York City, 
have announced the birth of a daughter, 
Courtney Selena Levesque Greenaway, in 
May. 

Class of 1955 
Jeff Justis was recently promoted to the 

rank of Major and appointed orthopedic 
consultant in the European Command. He 
and Lisa's (Rollow) address is P. 0. Box 441, 
A.P.O. 220, N. Y. 

Class of 1956 
Harriet Priester Allen (Mrs. James B.) 

has joined the English Department of the 
faculty at Oklahoma State University, Still­
water, as an instructor, and is teaching 
freshman composition. Jim, a graduate 
assistant, is working on his Ph.D. in engi­
neering. Their address is Unit &-1, Apt. 3, 
South University Place, Stillwater. 

Jimmie Fortune has completed his doctoral 
requirements in education at Stanford and 
returned to Memphis- 3778 Neely Road­
with his wife and three children, Joel, 8, 
Jeffrey, 4, and Justin, who was born April 
29, 1965. Jimmie is an Assistant Professor 
at MSU. 

Gretchen Lovett McKee (Mrs. Norris) is 
with "Seventeen" magazine, 320 Park Ave­
nue, New York City . .. she and her husband 
live at 50 Remsen Street in Brooklyn. 

Class of 1957 
Julian White recently accepted a call to 

St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, 923 West 
Shelby Drive, and he, Betsy, and their two 
children moved here in November from 
Natchez, where Julian was assistant pastor 
at the First Presbyterian Church (pastor 
there is Jac Ruffin '41). 

Class of 1958 
Neville (Frierson) and John Bryan, 643 

McCord, West Point, Miss., announce the 
birth of their third child, a daughter, Eliza­
beth Montgomery, on August 9. 

Mary Frances Bowlin, ballerina, whose 
professional name is Mara Lowrance, pre-

MOVING? 
It costs the Alumni Office 10¢ for 
each Post Office notification of a 
change of address. Due to this· ex­
pense, we are unable to forward 
second copies of the Southwestern 
News to your new address. To 
keep the magazine coming, and to 
save us that return postage ex­
pense, please notify the Alumni 
Office promptly of your new ad­
dress, including ZIP code. 



sented her own choreography in a concert 
at Carnegie Recital Hall in New York City 
on November 5. Mary Frances has studied 
in New York with Robert Jaffrey and was 
under contract with the Jaffrey Ballet Com­
pany at Radio City Music Hall for two sea­
sons. She toured the New England States 
and northern cities with the "Music Man" 
company; has performed her own choreog­
raphy at Lincoln Center for Leonard Sill­
man's "New Faces." She has also appeared 
with the San Francisco Opera Company, 
the New York Civic Opera Center, and the 
Mannheim Opera Company in West Ger­
many. Her sister, Suzanne Troth, is a cur­
rent student at Southwestern, majoring in 
physics. Mary Frances's address is 118 W. 
79th St., Apt. 4D., N. Y. C. 

Frank Conaway is teaching English at 
Portland State College. His address is 11260 
Southwest Highway 217, Tigard, Oregon. 

Denton McLellan is now pastor of Trinity 
Presbyterian Church in Laurel, Mississippi, 
which was organized in 1960 as a colony of 
the First Church. Back on the campus for 
a brief visit in July, Denton was delighted 
to see the evidence of much progress. He 
previously served three years as minister of 
the Montevallo, Alabama, Presbyterian 
Church. 

Jerry Tate, 3208 W. Ramona Road, Al­
hambra, Calif., has been appointed Assistant 
Professor of Psychology at California State 
College at Los Angeles. Jerry earned his 
1\{.A . in 1960 at Emory University and his 
Ph.D. in 1965 at Ohio State. From 1960 to 
1964, he was a research associate at the 
Laboratory of Aviation Psychology of Ohio 
State Univ., and last year was a visiting in­
structor at the University of Montana. 

Class of 1959 
Thirza (Mobley) and Tim Bradford, P . 0 . 

Box 236, Covington, Tenn., are the proud 
parents of a baby girl-born May 15 and 
named for her maternal grandmother, Mary 
Elizabeth (Mrs. Joseph C. Mobley '39). Tim 
is assistant vice-president of the First State 
Bank in Covington and a lay reader and 
vestryman at St. Matthew's Episcopal 
Church, where Thirza is organist. 

Reavis Lindsey is a geologist with Ana­
conda Copper. After getting his master's 
degree at Millsaps he did further graduate 
work at the University of Missouri. Address 
him at 1027 Lexington, Butte, Montana. 

Morton F. ("Mo") Waller is minister of 
the new St. Timothy Methodist Church lo­
cated on Raleigh-Millington Road. 

Nancy Woodell Warlick and her husband, 
the Rev. Mr. William Lee Warlick, have been 
appointed as evangelistic and educational 
missionaries to the Congo by the Presby­
terian TJ. S. Board of World Missions in 
Nashville. They have two children, Elizabeth 
Logan, 3, and William Lee Jr., 1. 

Diane (McMillan) and Walker Wellford, 
5117 Verosa, are the proud parents of a baby 
daughter born October 13 and named Lauren 
Lewis Wellford. 

Class of 1960 
Billie Green (Patch) and Donald Cunning­

ham are living at 1673 Forrest. They were 
recently transferred to Memphis and are 
being warmly welcomed by many old friends 
.. . Donald is with American Snuff Co. 

Jimmy Curtis was ordained to the priest­
hood of the Episcopal Church at a service 
in Knoxville's Church of the Ascension, in 
May. He has been placed in charge of the 
parish's new mission, Church of the Good 
Samaritan, in the Cedar Bluff area. His 
home address is 7258 Winchester Drive, 
Knoxville. 

News from Carolyn Shettlesworth Mc­
Clurkan (Mrs. Mike) is that her husband is 
interning at Dallas Methodist Hospital fol­
lowing his recent graduation from Tulane 
Med School. They are living at 817 Mary 
Cliff, Apt. 116, Dallas, Texas 75208, and are 
the proud parents of Todd Allen McClurkan, 
born August 24. 

Clara Stephens Smith (Mrs. S. L., Jr.) and 
her husband refuged from New Orleans to 
Laurel, Miss., for a long weekend after hur-

ricane Betsy- though they were among the 
lucky who suffered little damage. They were 
discharged from the Air Force in June and 
are missing the service life, having spent 
one year in southern Italy and two in Eng­
land, during which time they saw much of 
Europe, Egypt, and Jordan. In England 
they lived about an hour's ride from Strat­
ford so were able to see the Histories per­
formed at the Shakespearean theatre. Clara's 
husband is in his first year of residency in 
radiology at the Oschner Medical Center. 
Their address is 101 Gatehouse Drive, Apt. 
D North, New Orleans. 

Word from Don Wright is that he is teach­
ing on the high school level in Oakland, 
Calif., where his address is 1630 Trestle 
Glen. He did graduate work at the Univer­
sity of California at Berkeley, taking edu­
cation courses preparatory to teaching. 

Patsy Smith, 541 N. Mendenhall and Jenny 
Yeates '62, 4041 Summer, returned in August 
from a trip to Hawaii. . .. Patsy is teaching 
Spanish at Oakhaven, and Jenny, English, 
at Richland Junior High. 

ALUMNI SURVEY 
Many of the recent alumni ques­
tionnaries have been returned; 
however, a larger return is nec­
essary for proper evaluation and 
preparation of an alumni directory. 
Please fill your copy in immedi­
ately and return. H, by chance, 
you failed to receive a copy, notify 
the Alumni Office. 

Class of 1961 
Lela Garner is Associate Professor of Po­

litical Science at Tenn. A . and I. State Uni­
versity in Nashville, home address Apt. C, 
1006 35th Avenue North. She holds three de­
grees from the Fletcher School of Law and 
Diplomacy, the M.A. (1962), M.A.L .D. (1963), 
and the Ph.D. (1965); had a Fulbright grant 
to the Philippines, 1963-64; a Woodrow Wil­
son Dissertation Grant, 1964-65; and now 
has a Woodrow Wilson Internship, 1965-66. 

Charlotte (Barbarin) and Hugh McPheet­
ers are living in the Shamrock Apts., Co­
lumbia, Mo., and Hugh is in Law School 
at M .U . They still miss the Gulf Coast and 
Air Force life. . . . Hugh commanded a 
squadron at Keesler AFB, is now a USAF 
Lt., ret. Just before they left the coast, 
Bill and Margaret (Darden) Browder moved 
to Mobile (Brookley AFB) and they had a 
few "all- day-talking-and-dinner-together" 
days with them. Frances McDonald, visiting 
at home, was also in on the fun. 

Harvey Jenkins was married in August to 
the former Miss Martha Jean Liddell. The 
ceremony was performed at the Union Pres­
byterian Church, of which Harvey is min­
ister. They are at home at 3827 Jackson 
Avenue, Apartment 3. 

Sue (Caldwell) and Harry Pond are the 
parents of a son, Michael Ashton Pond, 
born August 10. Harry finishes his two year 
obligation on the reservation in July and 
they will return to Memphis, where his one 
year of surgery residency starts at John 
Gaston Hospital July 1. Address them at 
the Cherokee Indian Hospital, Cherokee, 
N.C. 

Class of 1962 
Dan Bowen is working on his master's 

degree in African studies at U.C.L.A. Write 
to him c/o Mrs. Eileen H. Forman, 2203 
Camden Avenue, Los Angeles. 

Catherine Liddell left in September for 
Nigeria, where she will spend approximately 
two years in a teaching and training ca­
pacity as a Peace Corps Volunteer. Her 
address is St. Rose's Grammar School, 
Ogwashi-Uku, Box 39, Midwest, Nigeria. 

Warren Nance received the B.D. degree 
at Union Seminary in May and was married 
that same month to the former Miss Carole 
Watkins of Chesapeake, Va. They are at 
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home in Edenton, N. C.; Warren is serving 
the First Presbyterian Church there. 

Gwendolyn (Bell) and Donald Riley have 
moved from Mobile to Huntsville, where 
their address is 4017 Telstar Circle. They 
have a baby girl , Katherine Mary, born 
August 3, and a little boy, Chris, 3. 

Jane (Cook) and Bill Shipp, with their 
ten-week-old son, William Bradley, left in 
August for Germany. Bill , a biophysicist 
specializing in genetics, has been awarded 
fellowships to study at the University of 
Cologne for two years and Jane plans to 
take German literature there. Their address 
is 5 Koln-Marienburg, Brohler Strasse 5, 
Germany. 

Margaret (Johnson) and Jim Thomas are 
back in Memphis, settled in the Georgian 
Woods, Apartment #2, 2431 Union Avenue, 
after two years in New Orleans where Jim 
was with Navy Intelligence. He's now with 
First National Bank, and Margaret is teach­
ing fourth grade at Lausanne School. Bill 
Butler '63 (803 Royale St.), with The Whit­
ney Bank in New Orleans, hosted such a 
special "farewell" party for them that An­
toine's was kept open 45 minutes later 
than usual. 

Linda Lawrence, now Mrs. Thomas N. 
Thomas, was married in August at German­
town Presbyterian Church. She and her 
husband are at home at 2755 Nicholson 
Drive, Apt. 5, Baton Rouge. He is complet­
ing pre-medical studies at LSU. 

Frank Weathersby received his B.D. de­
gree from Columbia Seminary and is as­
sociate minister at Sequoyah Hills Presby­
terian Church, 3700 Keowee Avenue, Knox­
ville. 

Jocelyn (Dan) and Richard Wurzburg 
have a new baby and a new home. 
Minda Leigh ("Mindy") Wurzburg was born 
August 27 and may be admired at 5503 
Gwynne Road. 

Class of 1963 
Janice Baker, 215 East Wyandotte, Shreve­

port, spoke to the student body in October, 
describing her experiences with the Peace 
Corps in Guinea. She was enjoying filling 
nearby speaking engagements and just being 
lazy at home, plans for the future tempo­
rarily indefinite. 

Ann (Adams) and James Riley Crawford 
have moved to Chattanooga, where Ann is 
teaching second grade and James Riley is 
working in the life underwriting department 
of the home office of Provident Life & Ac­
cident Insurance Co. They're at home at 
Montview Apt. 122, 30 Tunnel Blvd. 

Oliver Dickins was married in August to 
the former Miss Susan Boyd Engle of 
Bethesda, Md., a senior at the University 
of Alabama. Oliver is in graduate school 
there, a member of the Student Senate, 
Sigma Pi Sigma-physics honorary society, 
and the Alabama Academy of Science. He 
is also associated with the Army Missile 
Command in Huntsville. Their address is 
Box 4432, University, Ala. 

Joe Duncan was married recently to the 
former Miss Carol Kay Daugherty of Big 
Stone Gap, Va. They reside at 2516 Fairfax, 
Nashville, where Joe is a senior at Vander­
bilt Law School and has served as an of­
ficer of the· Vanderbilt Bar Association. He 
is a member of Phi Delta Phi legal fra­
ternity. His bride graduated Phi Beta Kappa 
from the Univ. of Ky. and received her 
LL.B. from Vanderbilt Law School in May. 
Floyd (Humphreys) Duncan assisted at the 
reception and Jerry was a groomsman. 

Armin Herbst, 8 Miinchen 13, Theo-Prosel­
Weg 16, Germany, writes that he took " the 
greatest pleasure in reading the 'Farewell 
Address to P.N.R., delivered by Dr. John H. 
Davis." He is still studying law at the Uni­
versity of Munich, hopes to finish next year. 

Barbara (Yost) and Bill Johns, 3626 John­
wood Drive, announce the birth of a son. 
William Cobb Johns, Jr., born June 8. 

Susan Smyth and James Lindenberger 
were married in August and may be ad­
dressed in care of Union Theological Semi­
nary in Richmond. Susan worked in Europe 



for a year after graduation and last year 
was director of campus Christian Lif e work 
at Winthrop College, Rock Hill, S. C. L ast 
year Jim studied at the Hebrew University 
in Jerusalem. 

Susan Stone was married in August to 
Knowles Arthur Overholser and they ar e at 
home at 507 D , Eagle H eights Apartments, 
Madison, Wisconsin. The bridegroom is in 
graduat e school at the University of Wis­
consin; he holds a bachelor of engineering 
degree, magna cum laude, from Vanderbilt. 

Sandra Clayton was another August bride; 
she is now Mrs. Addison Beecher Scoville 
ill, and lives in Apt. A-3, H elena Court, 527 
Belle M eade Blvd., N ashville. Sandra is 
teaching school and her husband is associ­
ated with the Third N ational Bank of N ash­
ville . 

Kate Terrell and D avid Summers were 
marri ed in September and are living at 
2022 Golf Road, Apt. 200, Huntsville, Ala., 
where the bridegroom is attending Elec­
tronics School at Redstone Arsenal and 
Kate is teaching school. 

David Watts was marri ed September 25 
to the f ormer Miss Janet Shene of Blue 
Point, Long Island. Their address is H ayden 
Residence H all , 33 Washington Squar e, N ew 
York, N . Y . David attends New York Uni­
versity L aw School, where he is an execu­
tive editor of the "Law Review"; his bride, 
a graduat e of Suffolk School of Nursing at 
Southhampton Hospital in Long Island, is 
associat ed with New York Hospital. 

Class of 1964 
Judy Crow was marri ed June 3 to Dr. 

Harold J . Quinn, Jr. Their address is 107 
Normandy Vill age, Shreveport. 

Jack Deaver, 27 H awthorne Ave., Prince­
ton, N ew Jersey, spent the summer studying 
at the Sorbonne and traveling in France, 
Italy, and England . . . he has been awarded 
f ellowships for the current academic year, 
f or next summer and the following aca­
demic year, in addition to those for the 
past summer and winter , toward fulfillm ent 
of the r equirements l eading to· the Ph.D . 
degree. He plans to visit in M emphis dur­
ing the Christmas holidays. 

Lyn Harrell (x'67) and Mike Hutchinson 
were marri ed during the summer and are 
at home in Huntsville, Al a., where their 
address is Apt. 7, 3000 Clopton St. Mik e is 
a junior management analyst at Brown En­
gineering Co. 

Bob Hasselle was marri ed in August to 
the former Miss M ary L enora Wilkins. She 
is attending St. M ary's Dominican College 
and Bob is in graduate school at Tulane 
where he has an assistantship. Their ad­
dress is 2420 Palmer , N ew Orleans. 

Rose Mary Hoye is a VISTA volunteer, 
working in the migrant program of f ederal 
government, teaching reading in adult lit ­
eracy programs and tutorials for school 
children. H er address is 911 26th Street 
East, Palmetto, Florida. 

Charles Killinger left in September for 
two years in Afri ca with the Peace Corps. 
His address is Box 11, Schlenker School, 
Port Loko, Sierra L eone West Afri ca 

Joanne Kathryn Matthews w as �m�a �~�r�i �e �d� 
in July to Donald Goodman and they are 
at home at 3536 Earwood Circle. She is 
teaching French at White Station and he 
is a laboratory t echnician at St. Joseph 
Hospital. 

K . C. P omey and Beth Daniel (x'66) w ere 
married ugust 7 in the First Presbyt erian 
Church f Gulfport, Miss. Southwesterners 
in the edding w ere Delia Dunlap, Eleanor 

�~� son ! both still in college), H enry Pope 
__. Cyril Hollingsworth, and Tommy �V�a�n�d�e�~� 

Bosch. They are living in Louisvill e where 
B eth is a l egal secr etary in the law firm 
of Morri ss Britt and Philip W . Linder at 419 
W est Jeff erson Street, and K . C. continues 
as a seminary student in Louisvill e Pres­
byteri an Seminary, 1044 Alt a Vista Road. 

Class of 1965 
Marguerite Ward Autry (Mrs. Joseph H. 

III), is back on campus as resear ch as­
sistant in chemistry. As announced in the 

This Space for Address 

October "News," Joe is in med school. 
H elen Bauman was marri ed to Martin S. 

Wil son in a June w edding at Christ Episco­
pal Church, D enver. They ar e at home at 
the E ast Campus Apt. B-6, University of 
Colorado, Boulder , Colorado. H el en is teach­
ing at Longmont, Colorado, w hil e her hus­
band continues his studies at the University 
- he's an Aero-Space engineer . 

Maida Fulghum Blythe (Mrs. Joseph C.) , 
635 N . Scott, Apt. K , N ew Orleans, is with 
Pan American Lif e Insurance Co.; her hus­
band is a reporter with Dun and Brad­
street . 

Ether Cosby was marri ed in October to 
Dr. Samir George Khoury. The bride had 
r eturned to this country the preceding week , 
aft er spending the summer in Scotland, 
England, and Egypt. She is now a senior 
student at Randolph-Macon Woman's Col­
l ege in Lynchburg. Dr. Khoury, son of Mr . 
and Mrs. George Khoury of H eliopolis, 
Cairo, Egypt, was awarded a doct or 's de­
gree in structural geology from the Uni­
versity of Glasgow, Scotland, in July, and 
holds other degrees from the Univ. of Cairo; 
the Univ. of D elft , Holland; and the Univ. 
of London, England. Their address is 4415 
Boonsboro Rd., Lynchburg. 

Judy (Moody) and Dan Daniel are liv ing 
at 70 E ast Parkway North; Judy is t each­
ing high school French and D an is with 
Union Planters' B ank. 

Linda Davis is t eaching French and Eng­
lish in the M arion, Ark., High School, com­
muting fr om Memphis. 

Judy Emery and Joe Howell w ere marri ed 
in June and are at home at 170 N. Holly­
wood. Joe is with Sears, Roebuck and Judy 
is secret ary for Mr. Elisha Gee, attorney. 
Southwesterners in the w edding included 
Nicole Holmes, maid of honor, Janet Emery, 
Judy's sister and a current freshman, Joe 
D ycus, George Awsumb, David Bird, Dale 
Ledbetter, and Jerry Dawkins. Assisting at 
the r eception w er e Candy Stanley and 
Sammie Ann Primm. 

Florence (Chalker) and Ronnie Godat, 
marri ed in August, ar e at home at 578 
Patterson, Apt. C. In the wedding w er e Judy 
Ries ('66), Eddie Pruitt, Bob Pineo ('66, best 
man), Rick Wheline ('66), and Duncan 
Crawford <'68). Florence is assistant to the 
Order Librarian at Southwestern ; Ronnie is 
completing pre-dental requirements at 
M .S.U. 

Joe Justice's address is 537 West 121st 
St. # 32, New York City .. . also the abode 
of Buddy Gilmer '64. 

Jeanie (Heltzel) and David Lindsey '63 
are at home at 1102 Marks Avenue Ex­
t ended, B ay Min ette, Al a. David is in bank­
ing and Jeanie is teaching high school Eng-
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lish. They came back for Homecoming- as 
f ormer Homecoming Royalty Jeanie was a 
guest of honor- r eceived a warm w el come 
and "enjoyed seeing the new buildings and 
renewing old fri endships." 

Tommy McKay, Eddie Pruitt, and Jim 
Fall, Envoy T owers, Apt. 707, 2400 N.W. 
16th St., Washington, D . C., ar e all in grad­
uat e school at Georgetown Univ. Tommy is 
also working as a research assist ant for the 
N ational Republican Committee. 

Sara M eans and John Callaway '63 w ere 
marri ed in August in Shreveport's First 
Presbyterian Church, of which the M eans 
ar e communicants and where John served 
as assistant minister during the summer. 
They are in Richmond, and John is con­
tinuing his studies as a senior at Union 
Theological Seminary. 

Anne Moss became Mrs. Charles Andrew 
Eudaly, Jr. on September 24 in a w edding 
cer emony at Christ M ethodist Church. She 
and her husband are at home at 5608 Flag­
staff , Apt. 3, Charlotte, N . C. H e is em­
ployed by Plough, Inc. 

Myrna Schaap was married in a late sum­
mer wedding to Joseph Thomas Fouts of 
Corneli a, Ga., a graduat e of Tulane. H e is 
president of the Fouts Rubber Co. at Cor­
nelia and is with Robbins Rubber Co. of 
Tuscumbia ; Myrna is t eaching biology at 
North H abershaw High School in Clarkes­
vill e. Their address is 132 Grand Avenue, 
Cornelia, Ga. 

Dale Seay, 4200 Cathedral Avenue N.W., 
Apt. 407, Washington, D . C. is doing edi­
torial work at the Agency for International 
D evelopment; she r ecently w rote a pam­
phlet on Vi et N am . 

Donna K aye Smith was married in June 
to Charles New ell Fulton III . They r eside 
at 175 9th Ave., Box 104, N ew York, N. Y . 
10011. Donna K aye received a Woodrow Wil­
son F ellowship and entered the Graduate 
School of Arts and Science at N ew York 
University in the fall. 

Lynn (Smith) and Fred Culpepper '64 are 
at home at 509 Burgundy, Apt. 3, New Or­
leans. Lynn earned the B.S. degree at L.S.U . 
in N ew Orleans and is teaching math at 
B ell e Chasse High School. 

Diane Clark Stone (Mrs. Stephen D.) 
graduated with a B.S. in business admin­
istration, from the Univ. of Mo. in June 
and is a funds accountant at Washington 
Univ. in St. Louis. She and her husband, a 
mechanical engineer with Southwestern 
Bell Telephone Co., live at 5 Van Mark Way 
in Brentwood, Mo. 

Betty Wilby and Lee Carroll '64, were 
married in August. Betty is a lab assistant 
at Georgia Baptist Hospital, while L ee con­
tinues his studies. Address: Box 45, Columbia 
Seminary, D ecatur, Ga. 


